
** Please note that upon reasonable notice, at least 24 hours in advance, efforts will be made to accommodate the needs of disabled individuals 

through appropriate aids and services.  For additional information or to request this service, please contact the City Clerk's Office at 364-6680, 
100 State Street, Beloit, WI 53511. 

 

 CITY HALL • 100 STATE STREET • BELOIT, WI 53511 
 Office: 608/364-6700 • Fax: 608/364-6609 
 www.beloitwi.gov 
 Equal Opportunity Employer 

 

 

BELOIT BOARD OF APPEALS 

MEETING NOTICE AND AGENDA 
Tuesday, May 9, 2017 

7:00 PM 

The Forum 

Beloit City Hall 

100 State Street 

 

1. Roll Call 

 

2. Minutes of the October 14, 2014 and July 12, 2016 Meetings 

 

3. Janet A. Becker – 1263 Eaton Avenue 

 BOA-2017-01 Use Variance to Section 4-202 of the City of Beloit Zoning Ordinance to 

allow a two-family dwelling (duplex) in an R-1B, Single-Family Residential District, for the 

property located at 1263 Eaton Avenue. 

 

4. Adjournment 

 

If you are unable to attend this meeting, notify the Planning Office at (608) 364-6700 no later 

than 4:00 PM the day before the meeting. 

 

Notice Mailed: April 25, 2017 

Approved: Drew Pennington, AICP, Director of Planning & Building Services 

 



Page 1 of 1 

 

MINUTES 

CITY OF BELOIT BOARD OF APPEALS 

Meeting of October 14, 2014 

 

A Meeting of the City of Beloit Board of Appeals was held on Tuesday, October 14, 2014, in 

The Forum of Beloit City Hall, 100 State Street. Chairperson Gregory Gaul called the meeting to 

order at 7:00 PM. 

 

1. Roll Call 
Director of Planning & Building Services Drew Pennington called the roll.  Present were: 

Randall Fiore, Gregory Gaul, Carolyn Hansen, John Schroer, and Merlin Bussan. 

  

2. Approval of the Minutes of the September 22, 2014 Meeting 

Mr. Fiore made a motion to approve the September 22, 2014 Minutes as submitted.  Mr. 

Schroer seconded the motion.  The motion passed (5-0), voice vote. 

 

3. Rachel Cates 

BOA-2014-03 Area Variance to Section 6.3.3(b)(1) of the City of Beloit Zoning 

Ordinance to allow an attached garage to encroach into an interior side setback area, for 

the property located at 2244 Knoll View Drive. 

 

Mr. Pennington reviewed the staff report and recommendation. 

 

Rachel Cates identified herself as the applicant.  Mr. Fiore stated that he had visited the 

subject property and noticed a for sale sign in the yard.  Mr. Fiore asked Ms. Cates if the 

requested variance to build a garage was intended to increase the resale value of her 

property, and she confirmed that increasing the marketability of her property was a main 

motivation.  Mr. Fiore commented that wanting to increase a property’s value for resale 

should not be considered valid hardship.  Several Board members agreed.  Mr. Gaul 

asked Ms. Cates to explain the use of the detached building in the rear yard, and Ms. 

Cates explained that it was a workshop/storage building.  Mr. Gaul commented that the 

hardship seemed self-created. 

 

Mr. Fiore made a motion to deny the requested variance.  Mr. Gaul seconded the motion.  

The motion passed (5-0), voice vote. 

 

4. Adjournment 

The meeting adjourned at 7:35 PM. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

Drew Pennington, AICP 

 

 



Page 1 of 2 

 

MINUTES 

CITY OF BELOIT BOARD OF APPEALS 

Special Meeting of July 12, 2016 

 

A Special Meeting of the City of Beloit Board of Appeals was held on Tuesday, July 12, 2016 in 

the 4
th

 Floor Conference Room of Beloit City Hall, 100 State Street.  Vice-Chairperson John 

Schroer called the meeting to order at 2:00 PM. 

 

1. Roll Call 
Director of Planning & Building Services Drew Pennington called the roll.  Board 

Members present:  Randall Fiore, John Schroer, Merlin Bussan, Willis Zick, and John 

Petersen.  Carolyn Hansen was absent. 

 

2. Election of Officers 

a. Nomination and election of Chairperson 

Mr. Fiore nominated Mr. Schroer for Chairperson, seconded by Mr. Zick.  Mr. 

Schroer accepted the nomination.  The Board voted unanimously to accept Mr. 

Schroer as the Chairperson. 

 

b. Nomination and election of Vice-Chairperson 

Mr. Fiore nominated Mr. Bussan for Vice-Chairperson, seconded by Mr. Schroer.  

Mr. Bussan accepted the nomination.  The Board voted unanimously to accept Mr. 

Bussan as the Vice-Chairperson. 

 

c. Nomination and election of 2
nd

 Vice-Chairperson 

Mr. Schroer nominated Mr. Petersen for 2
nd

 Vice-Chairperson, seconded by Mr. 

Bussan.  Mr. Petersen accepted the nomination.  The Board voted unanimously to 

accept Mr. Petersen as the 2
nd

 Vice-Chairperson. 

  

3. Discussion of Recent Case Law & Legislation 

Mr. Pennington reviewed three recent cases involving appeals boards in Wisconsin, as 

summarized in legal updates provided by the Wisconsin Chapter of the American 

Planning Association and UW-Extension.  The first case was NextMedia Outdoor, Inc. v. 

Village of Howard, which was a decision by the Wisconsin Court of Appeals.  The 

second case was Heef Realty and Investments, LLP v. City of Cedarburg Board of 

Appeals, which was also a decision by the Wisconsin Court of Appeals.  The third and 

final case was Murr v. State of Wisconsin, a significant case out of St. Croix County that 

will be reviewed by the U.S. Supreme Court in October.  The Board members discussed 

some of the significant aspects of each case. 

 

4. Discussion of Site Visits 

Mr. Pennington reviewed the article “Site Visits:  Necessary But Tricky” by C. Gregory 

Dale, AICP.  This article originally appeared in Volume 39 of the Planning 

Commissioners Journal in Summer 2000.  The Board members discussed some of the 

 



Page 2 of 2 

suggestions in the article, and asked staff to schedule more officially noticed site visits 

for future variance applications. 

 

5. Adjournment 

The meeting adjourned at 2:49 PM. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

Drew Pennington, AICP 

 



May 9 Staff Report, BOA-2017-01, 1263 Eaton Avenue   

 

CITY OF BELOIT 
REPORT TO THE BELOIT BOARD OF APPEALS 
 
 
Meeting Date: May 9, 2017 
 

Agenda Item: 3 File Number: BOA-2017-01 

Applicant: Janet A. Becker 
 

Owner: Janet A. Becker 
 

Location: 1263 Eaton Avenue 

Existing Zoning: R-1B, Single-Family 
Residential District 

Existing Land Use: Single-Family Parcel Size: 0.1 Acre 

 
 
Request: 
Janet A. Becker has filed an application requesting a Use Variance to Section 4-202 of the City of Beloit Zoning 
Ordinance to allow a Two-Family Dwelling (duplex) in an R-1B, Single-Family Residential District, for the property located 
at 1263 Eaton Avenue. 
 
 
Request Overview/Background Information: 
The applicant occupies the northern half of the 2,400 square-foot building on the subject property, which is structurally 
divided into two units. The southern unit is vacant. Prior occupancy of both units within the building on the subject property 
constituted a legal nonconforming use of the property. This nonconforming status lapsed after the south unit remained 
vacant for more than one year. If the requested variance is approved, the applicant will be able to legally occupy both 
units. 
 
 
Key Issues: 

 The subject property is located at the SE corner of the intersection of Eaton Avenue and Keeler Avenue, directly 
across the street from the Kolak Education Center, which was constructed (c. 1919) as Roosevelt Jr. High School. 

 As shown on the attached map, the predominant surrounding land use is single-family residential with a detached 
garage. The majority of the neighborhood homes were constructed from 1905 to 1930, when this neighborhood 
(and all of Beloit) experienced rapid growth. The majority of homes are owner-occupied, although that percentage 
decreases noticeably from the east to west. There are a few duplexes in the immediate area, although the 
neighborhood was downzoned to single-family residential in 1999. The City-wide downzoning in 1999 applied to 
all structures, including those like the subject property that were constructed as duplexes. 

 Section 4-202 of the Zoning Ordinance incorporates Table 6.1-1 as the “Use Table” outlining the uses permitted 
by right, allowed with a Conditional Use Permit, and prohibited in the City’s residential, commercial, and industrial 
zoning districts. Duplexes are prohibited in the R-1B district. 

 On March 1, 2017, Planning staff determined that the south unit within the building on the subject property has 
been vacant for more than ten years, and sent the applicant the attached Loss of Nonconforming Status letter. 
The long-term vacancy came to the attention of Planning staff after the water meters were replaced in late 2016. 

 According to the applicant, the subject property was constructed as a duplex in 1923 (City records show 1920) 
and has been under her ownership since 1976. 

 The applicant has consistently obtained a Rental Registration Certificate (previously known as a Rental Permit) 
for the vacant south unit, and has passed all systematic interior inspections during the past decade. 

 According to a review of the property file, the last known evidence of occupancy of the vacant south unit is a 
motor vehicle violation notice relating to a tenant’s vehicle in February 2002. 

 The attached Public Notice was sent to 16 nearby property owners. Planning staff has not received comments. 
 Wisconsin Supreme Court Standards for Use Variances 

The Wisconsin Supreme Court has established a standard for granting variances to zoning regulations. For Use 
Variances, the property owner and/or applicant has the burden of proving that the standard for granting such a 
variance has been met. In order to grant a Use Variance, the Board of Appeals must determine that all of the 
following criteria of Section 2-902 are satisfied: 
(a) Granting of the variance will not be contrary to the public interest; and 
(b) Due to special conditions, a literal enforcement of the zoning ordinance will result in practical difficulty or 

unnecessary hardship; and  
(c) The variance is needed so that the spirit of the zoning ordinance will be observed, while public safety and 

welfare are secured; and  
(d) Substantial justice will be done by granting the variance; and 
(e) The property owner would have no reasonable use of the property without a variance. 

 The attached Findings of Fact evaluate this application against the above standards. 
 



May 9 Staff Report, BOA-2017-01, 1263 Eaton Avenue   

 
 
Consistency with Comprehensive Plan:  
The Comprehensive Plan recommends Single-Family Residential – Urban uses for the subject property. The subject 
property’s zoning district classification is consistent with this recommendation. 
 

Sustainability: 
 Reduce dependence upon fossil fuels – N/A 
 Reduce dependence on chemicals and other manufacturing substances that accumulate in nature – N/A 
 Reduce dependence on activities that harm life sustaining eco-systems – N/A 
 Meet the hierarchy of present and future human needs fairly and efficiently – N/A 

 

Staff Recommendation: 
The Planning & Building Services Division recommends denial of the requested Use Variance to Section 4-202 of the City 
of Beloit Zoning Ordinance to allow a Two-Family Dwelling (duplex) in an R-1B, Single-Family Residential District, for the 
property located at 1263 Eaton Avenue, based upon the attached Findings of Fact. 
 

Attachments: Findings of Fact, Location & Zoning Map, Photos, Application, Loss of Nonconforming Status Letter, Public 
Notice, and Mailing List. 
 



May 9 Staff Report, BOA-2017-01, 1263 Eaton Avenue 

 

CITY OF BELOIT 
FINDINGS OF FACT 
 
 
Use Variance to Section 4-202 of the City of Beloit Zoning Ordinance to allow a Two-Family Dwelling (duplex) in 
an R-1B, Single-Family Residential District, for the property located at 1263 Eaton Avenue. 
 
Under the standards for a Use Variance in Section 2-902 of the Zoning Ordinance, Planning staff finds: 
 

(a) Granting of the variance will be contrary to the public interest; and  
 

The R-1B zoning classification and City-wide downzoning in 1999 were intended to reduce residential density in 
existing neighborhoods, regardless of the structural makeup of the structures therein. 

 
(b) Due to special circumstances, a literal enforcement of the zoning ordinance will not result in practical 

difficulty or unnecessary hardship; and 
 
According to the applicant, literal enforcement of the ordinance will result in difficulty and hardship by decreasing the 
attractiveness of the property to potential buyers, who will need to invest in converting the building into a single-family 
dwelling. While Planning staff does not disagree with that argument, the courts have consistently held that hardship 
cannot be self-created, and that financial hardship alone does not justify a variance. 
 
(c) The variance is not needed so that the spirit of the zoning ordinance will be observed, while public safety and 

welfare are secured; and 
 
The intent of the Zoning Ordinance is to promote public health, safety, and welfare through land use regulation. The 
subject property and the surrounding area are planned and zoned for single-family dwellings. 
 
(d) Substantial justice will not be done by granting the variance; and 
 
Granting the variance would allow the perpetual occupancy of a nonconforming duplex in a single-family district. 
 
(e) The property owner would have reasonable use of the property without a variance. 

 
According to the applicant, her intent is to sell the subject property, and the requested variance is intended to increase 
the property’s value. The subject property may be used as a single-family dwelling – a rental or owner-occupied 
dwelling. Potential buyers have the option of using the second unit for storage, or spending the money to convert the 
building into a larger single-family dwelling. The courts have consistently held that, if any feasible use of the property 
is available, then a true hardship cannot exist. There are reasonable and feasible uses of the property available to the 
applicant and to potential buyers. 
 



May 9 Staff Report, BOA-2017-01, 1263 Eaton Avenue 

 
 



May 9 Staff Report, BOA-2017-01, 1263 Eaton Avenue 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 



May 9 Staff Report, BOA-2017-01, 1263 Eaton Avenue 

 

 



May 9 Staff Report, BOA-2017-01, 1263 Eaton Avenue 

 
 



May 9 Staff Report, BOA-2017-01, 1263 Eaton Avenue 



May 9 Staff Report, BOA-2017-01, 1263 Eaton Avenue 



May 9 Staff Report, BOA-2017-01, 1263 Eaton Avenue 

 



 


